No. 68406-0

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

# FIKRETA CUTUK and SEJFUDIN CUTUK, *Appellants*,

ν.

# JEFFREY BRAY, M.D., Respondent.

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Elena Luisa Garella Law Office of Elena Luisa Garella 3201 First Avenue South, Suite 208 Seattle, Washington 98134 (206) 675-0675 law@garella.com

William F. Tri Jelsing Tri West & Andrus PLLC 2926 Colby Avenue Everett, Washington 98201 (425) 258-2688 bill@jtwalaw.com

###

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal arises out of a medical malpractice action brought by Fikreta and Sejfudin Cutuk against physician Dr. Jeffrey F. Bray. Dr. Bray failed to properly diagnose an ectopic pregnancy, removing Fikreta Cutuk's one healthy fallopian tube. In addition, Mrs. Cutuk was compelled to undergo a second surgery to remove her other tube. Trial took place over the course of seven days, of which over two were consumed by jury deliberations. The jury found for plaintiffs, and awarded them approximately \$72,000 in damages.

Following the trial, defense counsel interviewed several jurors and moved for a new trial on grounds of juror misconduct, claiming that an unidentified juror had consulted an unidentified dictionary and reported an undisclosed definition of "negligence" to the jury. Ultimately, nine juror declarations were considered by the trial court. The declarations were sharply in conflict as to whether or not the alleged incident even occurred. The dictionary was never identified, and the alleged definition, either as it appeared in the alleged dictionary or as it was reported to the jury, was never revealed. On these grounds the trial court granted defendant's motion for a new trial.

The Cutuks ask this Court to set aside the order for a new trial and to remand with instructions to that court to reinstate the verdict.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1: The trial court erred in entering its January 30, 2012 *Order Granting Defendant's Motion for New trial* dated in Snohomish County Super. Ct. No. 10-2-04313-2. CP 42-44, 31-41.

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 1:

- A. Whether the trial court erred when it made findings of fact that a juror consulted a dictionary and discussed the definition briefly in the jury room where those findings were based on nine sharply conflicting declarations and the trial court did not hold a hearing to discover the facts.
- B. Whether the trial court's conclusion of law that it was "obliged" to grant a new trial must be set aside because that conclusion was based upon findings of fact that are not supported by the record.
- C. Whether the trial court erred as matter of law when it relied on Adkins v. Aluminum Company of America, 110 Wn. 2d 128, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988), in holding that it was "obliged" to grant a new trial rather than the case on point, <u>Tarabochia v. Johnson Line</u>, Inc., 73 Wn. 2d 751, 440 P.2d 187 (1968).
- D. Whether the trial court erred when it failed to consider whether any presumption of potential prejudice arising out of the alleged misconduct had been rebutted.

Assignment of Error No. 2: The trial court erred when it denied Appellants' motion to conduct a voir dire the entire jury panel regarding the contested issues of fact presented by the Respondents' three juror declarations.

Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 2: Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it failed to conduct an evidentiary hearing on a matter in which the outcome depended upon credibility issues.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Action.

This appeal arises following trial (*Cutuk v. Bray*, No. 10-2-04314-2, Snohomish) on Plaintiff Fikreta Cutuk's medical malpractice case against Defendant Jeffrey Bray, M.D.. Dr. Bray did not properly diagnose an ectopic pregnancy, with the result that Mrs. Cutuk's one healthy fallopian tube was removed. A second surgery was then required to remove the other tube. CP 234.

#### B. Trial.

Trial was held over the course of seven court days, from October 31 through November 8, 2011. Conflicting expert medical testimony was presented by both the plaintiffs and the defendant. CP 216, 217. The jury was instructed on the standard of care required of professionals. CP 196, 197, 199. The jury deliberated for about two and a half court days. CP

207-24. The jury found respondent Bray negligent and awarded damages to Mrs. Cutuk of \$71,795.53. CP 224. On December 5, 2011, the trial court entered a judgment summary and judgment on verdict. CP 187.

#### C. Defendant's Motion for a New Trial.

Shortly after the judgment summary was entered, Dr. Bray filed a motion for a new trial. Dr. Bray asserted that the jury engaged in jury misconduct by "researching, substituting, and applying the dictionary definition of negligence for the *legal* definition..." CP 173.

In support of his Motion, Dr. Bray filed three declarations gathered following post-trial interviews with the jurors. All three of the declarations state that (1) an unidentified juror stated that he or she had looked up the definition of negligence in a dictionary at home, (2) told the definition to the jurors, and (3) that the jurors briefly discussed the definition on the morning of the third day of deliberations. CP 140-141, CP 167-68, CP 170-171. Of the three jurors who submitted these declarations, two jurors disagreed with the ultimate decision by the jury. CP 167, CP 170. The third had second thoughts post-trial based upon information that was not presented in trial. CP 141.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dr. Bray also sought a new trial for an error of law in the jury instructions. CP 174, 176-77, 182-84. The trial court denied that motion, and that ruling has not been appealed.

#### D. Plaintiffs' Response to Defendant's Motion for a New Trial.

Plaintiffs Cutuk responded to the Motion by arguing that the events as described in the three declarations did not establish prejudicial jury misconduct that would require a new trial. CP 128-139. The Cutuks noted that declarations (1) did not identify the dictionary allegedly used, (2) failed to indicate what the dictionary definition of negligence was or in what words the juror reported it to the jury, and (3) did not identify the juror who allegedly looked up the definition. CP 135-36. The Cutuks pointed out that the definition was allegedly discussed for about ten minutes on the morning of the last day of deliberations, but the jury took several more hours before rendering the verdict. CP 137. In other words, there was no evidence submitted to the court that the jury had "substituted" and "applied" the alleged dictionary definition as contended by Dr. Bray. CP 173. The Cutuks requested that the court deny the motion for a new trial. CP 128.

In the alternative, the Cutuks moved the trial court to empanel the entire jury for a voir dire, or make other evidentiary inquiries. CP 128. This motion for voir dire of the jury was denied. CP 127. However, the Court did provide contact information for those remaining jurors who agreed to speak with plaintiffs' counsel. CP 98-105. The court set oral argument for January 30, 2012. CP 127.

The Cutuks then contacted the other available jurors. CP 98-99. Six additional juror declarations were filed. Four jurors denied that any juror had reported looking at a dictionary. CP 109, 114-115, 120, 124. Five jurors affirmed that no dictionary definition was discussed during deliberations. CP 109, 112, 114-115, 120, 124. All six jurors testified that the jury instructions on standard of care were referenced frequently in the hours prior to the issuance of the verdict. CP 109-110, 112, 114, 119, 121, 125.

Consistent with the three jurors interviewed by defense counsel, none of six jurors presented any information that an alleged dictionary definition influenced the verdict. CP 107, 109, 112, 114-115, 121, 125-126. Rather, all of the jurors described a careful process which involved listing the physician's knowledge of the facts on a whiteboard next to the acts that the physician actually undertook, and what he should have done. CP 107-108, 110, 112, 114, 121-122, 125. The jurors reported that before and during this process they repeatedly referenced the Court's instructions on the standard of care. CP 109, 112, 114, 119-120, 125.

Of the six jurors interviewed by plaintiff's trial attorney, only one stated that another juror, Jerry Patzer, reported looking up the definition of negligence and had briefly discussed it with the jury. CP 107. However, Mr. Patzer flatly denied this claim. CP 125. A last juror recollected that

there was a juror who mentioned looking up the term "negligence," but this affiant did not know whether the juror said he "would, or did" look it up. CP 112.

There were three additional jurors who were not interviewed.

These persons did not allow plaintiff's counsel to contact them. CP 98.

### E. The Trial Court's Ruling on Juror Misconduct and Grant of a New Trial.

On January 30, 2012, the trial court ruled on Dr. Bary's motion for a new trial. CP 42-43. The trial court was clearly frustrated:

I mean, I pride myself in terms of making it explicit to the jurors that they should not be doing this. And I have to tell you in the 20 years that I've been a judge this is the first time any juror has been alleged to do something like this. It is clear in my mind that I made it clear to the jurors that they should not do this. CP 32-33.

The trial court did admonish the jury to not consult dictionaries at the inception of the case. CP 179. However, the instructions read to the jury just before it retired for deliberations (CP 222), nowhere repeated this explicit admonition. CP 189-206. The most pertinent instruction reads: "You should disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law as I have explained it to you." CP 191.

The Court's findings of fact and conclusions of law are set forth in an oral ruling incorporated into the Order. CP 31-41. First, the Court

determined, as a finding of fact, that a juror looked up a definition and discussed that definition in the jury room. CP 36. Second, the Court held that the act of looking up a definition would be misconduct. CP 37, II 12-16 (Appellants do not assign error to this second conclusion). Third, relying on the case of Adkins v. Aluminum Company of America, 110 Wn. 2d 128, 131, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988) the trial court concluded, as a matter of law, "that the court is obliged to grant the new trial." CP 38 (emphasis added).

Plaintiffs timely filed a Notice of Appeal from the Order Granting

Defendant's Motion for New Trial. CP 12 – 28.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Erred When It Made a Finding of Fact that a Juror Consulted a Dictionary and Discussed a Definition in the Jury Room.

The first task of the trial court, when considering a motion for a new trial, is to determine whether or not the acts allegedly constituting misconduct actually occurred. As noted above, the trial court relied upon sharply conflicting declarations by the jurors to arrive at the factual conclusion that a juror had consulted a dictionary and discussed the matter in the jury room. CP 36. Appellants assign error to this finding.

### 1. This Court Reviews Findings of Fact Exclusively Based upon Written Materials De Novo.

CR 59(a)(2) states that "misconduct may be proved by the affidavits of one or more of the jurors." This permissive statement describes the procedure followed in this case. The trial court did not have, or take, the opportunity to judge the credibility of the jurors whose recollections of events in the jury room were wholly inconsistent. The post-trial declarations of the jurors and counsel comprise the entire record upon which the trial court relied in finding of juror misconduct.

Because "appellate courts are in as good a position as trial courts to review written submissions" this court must review *de novo* the trial court's findings of fact. For example, in McCoy v. Kent Nursery, Inc., 163 Wn.App. 744, 759, 260 P.3d 967 (Div. II, 2011), the appellate court applied a de novo standard of review to trial court's determination, based upon affidavits alone, that the alleged jury misconduct had occurred and reversed the trial court's grant of new trial.

It is anticipated that the respondent will urge this Court to adopt an abuse of discretion standard of review. The contention is based on an excerpted sentence originating in <u>Richards v. Overlake Hosp. Medical Center</u>, 59 Wn.App. 266, 271, 796 P.2d 737 (1990), in which this court stated: "Initially, with regard to the claims of juror misconduct, it must be

noted that a decision of whether the alleged misconduct exists, whether it is prejudicial and whether a mistrial is declared are all matters for the discretion of the trial court. The decision of the trial court will be overturned on appeal only for an abuse of discretion." <u>Id</u>. at 271.

The above-quoted sentences from <u>Richards</u>, however, must be considered in light of the case law cited in that case. <u>Richards</u> derived the "abuse of discretion" standard from two cases, <u>State v. Rempel</u>, 53 Wn.App. 799, 770 P.2d 1058 (1989), rev'd on other grounds, 114 Wn. 2d 77, 785 P.2d 1134 (1990) and <u>State v. Colbert</u>, 17 Wn.App. 658, 564 P.2d 1182, review den'd, 89 Wn. 2d 1010 (1977). In both <u>Colbert</u> and <u>Rempel</u>, the trial courts examined certain jurors who were claimed, post-trial, to be so prejudiced as to require a new trial. As noted in <u>Colbert</u>, 17 Wn.App at 664-665:

The judge observed and talked with both jurors. He was in a better position to measure and weigh these individuals than this court. Certainly we are not in a position to suggest that the trial court misused its discretion in the procedure it followed and in its refusal to declare a mistrial. The possibility of prejudice cannot be based on the tenuous, speculative reasoning that the facts here would only allow.

See, also, <u>Rempel</u>, 53 Wn.App. at 801-802.<sup>2</sup> Therefore the abuse of discretion standard properly was applied. Neither Rempel nor Colbert

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>Rempel</u> held that a juror's failure to recall during voir dire that she was acquainted with the complaining witness did not require mistrial. In applying the abuse of discretion standard, the court noted that "[i]t is the trial court that is best

stand for the proposition that a trial court's findings of fact on whether the alleged misconduct occurred, on the basis of conflicting affidavits alone, is subject to abuse of discretion review on appeal.

The quotation from Richards, set forth above, therefore incorrectly implies that abuse of discretion is always applied in the review of "a decision of whether the alleged misconduct exists." Richards, 59 Wn.App. at 271. Richards more carefully describes the standard of review earlier in the opinion, at 59 Wn.App. 270-271, where the court states:

The trial court will normally review this alleged new evidence [of misconduct] and then determine whether the juror's remarks or the new evidence itself probably had a prejudicial effect on the minds of the other jurors. Gardner v. Malone, [60 Wn. 2d 836, 846, 376 P.2d 651 (1962)] (relying on State v. Parker, 25 Wn. 405, 415, 65 P. 776 (1901)). The trial court then has the discretion to grant or deny a new trial after viewing juror affidavits or examining jurors, which will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion. [Emphasis added]

In other words, the first inquiry is a factual inquiry: Did the events which the party challenging the verdict asserts constitute misconduct occur or not? Assuming those events are confirmed, the second inquiry is: Did the

11

able to determine if the juror can set aside any preconceived opinion. The trial court is able to observe the juror's demeanor and, in light of the observation, interpret and evaluate the juror's answers to determine whether the juror will be fair and impartial. Rempel, 53 Wn.App. at 801-802.

events constitute misconduct?<sup>3</sup> Finally, the third inquiry is: Did the new evidence have a prejudicial effect on the minds of the jurors? <u>It is that third inquiry which is subject to the abuse of discretion standard</u> under <u>Richards</u> (unless of course, the trial court's ruling is predicated upon erroneous rulings as to the law, see Adkins, 110 Wn. 2d at 136).

In the instant case, of course, there was no opportunity for the trial court to consider the statements in the affidavits in the light of the court's own observations of the jurors. The allegations presented in this case exclusively concern acts that supposedly took place within the private confines of the jury room. The Court's observations of voir dire before trial, and indeed its observations of the entire trial, were therefore irrelevant with respect to what happened in the jury room. This is not a case like that of <u>Gardner v. Malone</u>, 60 Wn. 2d 836, 843, 376 P.2d 651 (1962), in which an abuse of discretion standard was properly applied because the trial court heard a juror testify regarding the comments he made to fellow jurors. This trial court did not hold a hearing which would have afforded it the opportunity to judge the credibility and motivations of the jury. CP 127.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appellants do not challenge that consultation of a dictionary by the jury is misconduct. <u>Adkins</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 137-38. However, as discussed infra, a finding of misconduct does not necessarily require a new trial.

The factual finding that a juror consulted a dictionary and reported the definition in this case was made purely upon a written record. This Court is in as good a position to review the material as was the trial court.

McCoy, 163 Wn.App. at 759; Smith v. Skagit County, 75 Wn. 2d 715, 718, 453 P.2d 832 (1969); In re Estate of Nelson, 85 Wn. 2d 602, 605–06, 537 P.2d 765 (1975); Indigo Real Estate Services, Inc. v. Wadsworth, \_\_\_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_\_, 280 P.3d 506 (Div. 1, 2012). Therefore, application of the de novo standard of review is required with respect to the trial court's finding that misconduct occurred.

### 2. The Trial Court Erred In Finding that the Disputed Juror Misconduct Occurred.

As indicated above, the proper standard for review of the trial court's initial finding of fact, that misconduct occurred, is de novo. But whether the de novo, substantial evidence, or even the abuse of discretion standard is applied, the trial court erred when it made the initial finding that the events constituting misconduct occurred.

The burden of establishing the fact of misconduct was upon Dr. Bray. Wiles v. Northern Pac. Ry. Co., 66 Wn. 337, 343, 119 P. 810 (1911), State v. Earl, 142 Wn.App. 768, 774, 177 P.3d 132 (Div. II, 2008). "Before a new trial may be granted for misconduct of jurors such misconduct must be shown with certainty." Herndon v. City of Seattle,

11 Wn. 2d 88, 105, 118 P.2d 421 (1941) (emphasis added). This, Dr. Bray failed to do. With half the declarations asserting misconduct, and the other half denying the same, misconduct cannot be established under any standard of review. After all,

... The threshold issue is whether posttrial declarations supporting a motion for a new trial adequately demonstrate juror misconduct. Based on the lack of supporting evidence in the record... we do not reach whether the alleged misconduct affected the verdict, and we do not defer to the trial court's knowledge of the proceedings—information outside the record and available only to the trial court in ordering a new trial.

McCoy, 163 Wn.App. at 759, fn. 8 (emphasis added).

Here, we pause to summarize the declarations of the 9 of 12 jurors that were before the trial court. Four jurors testified that a juror told them that he or she had looked up a dictionary definition of negligence while he or she was at home (CP 107, 140-41, 167-68, 170-71), and a fifth juror stated that another juror said he or she "would, or did" consult a dictionary. CP 112. However, the only juror identified as having made that statement (Jerry Patzer) flatly denied both the statement and the act. CP 125. Five jurors reported that an alleged dictionary definition itself was never discussed. CP 109, 112, 114-15, 120, 124.

All of the claims that a juror consulted a dictionary, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted by an out-of-court

declarant, are hearsay, and may not be considered to prove the allegation that the other juror in fact looked at a dictionary. Herndon, 11 Wn.2d at 105 (hearsay in jurors affidavits asserting misconduct on the part of another juror is insufficient to invoke the discretion of the trial court to grant a new trial). For this reason alone, the trial court's finding of fact, that "a juror did look up the definition of negligence" is in error. CP 36. At worst, the declarations suggest that a juror made a claim he or she had looked at a dictionary, but they cannot establish that a juror did in fact consult a dictionary.

As a whole, the trial court's factual finding (that a juror looked at a dictionary and briefly discussed a definition of negligence during deliberations) falls far short of the standard set forth by the case law for a finding of misconduct. As set forth in Richards v. Overlake Hosp.

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