NO. 68406-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FIKRETA CUTUK and SEJFUDIN CUTUK,

Appellants,

v.

JEFFREY F. BRAY, M.D.,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Mary H. Spillane, WSBA #11981 Daniel W. Ferm, WSBA #11466 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC Attorneys for Respondent

Two Union Square 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 628-6600

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. To Hold Dr. Bray Liable for Medical Malpractice, the Cutuks Had to Prove with Expert Testimony that He Failed to Meet the Professional Standard of Care Applicable to an OB/GYN.

"Expert [opinion] testimony is required to establish the standard of care... in a medical negligence action" because the standard of care is part of an essential element in such a case⁸ and is typically beyond the expertise of a layperson. Seybold v. Neu, 105 Wn. App. 666, 676, 19 P.3d 1068 (2001). The Cutuks do not assign error to any of Judge Castleberry's jury instructions and thus tacitly concede that Court's Instruction No. 8 correctly told the jury that, as an "obstetrician/gynecologist [Dr. Bray had] a duty to exercise the degree of skill, care and learning expected of a reasonably prudent obstetrician/gynecologist in the state of Washington

⁷ Thus, the Cutuks, *App. Br. at 9-13*, urge this Court to review *de novo* Judge Castleberry's factual finding based upon juror declarations that the alleged misconduct – consulting a dictionary for the definition of negligence and reporting that definition to other jurors – occurred. Even if reviewed *de novo*, Judge Castleberry's finding that jurors discussed a definition of "negligence" that one of them attributed to a dictionary is amply supported by the juror declarations and withstands *de novo* review. The Cutuks do not dispute that "consultation of a dictionary by the jury is misconduct," *App. Br. at 12 n.3*, or that the question whether such misconduct, if it occurred, was prejudicial is to be reviewed for abuse of discretion, *App. Br. at 12*.

⁸ RCW 7.70.040 provides that one of the propositions that a plaintiff suing for injury due to a health care provider's failure to follow the accepted standard of care (malpractice) must prove is that "[t]he health care provider failed to exercise that degree of care, skill, and learning expected of a reasonably prudent health care provider at that time in the profession or class to which he or she belongs, in the state of Washington, acting in the same or similar circumstances."

acting in the same or similar circumstances at the time of the care or treatment in question," and that "[f]ailure to exercise such skill, care, and learning constitutes a breach of the standard of care and is negligence." CP 199. Stated in reverse, Instruction 8 told the jury that negligence is (and thus means) failure to exercise the degree of skill, care, and learning expected of a reasonably prudent OB/GYN in the State of Washington acting in the same or similar circumstances at the time of the care or treatment in question.

B. <u>In a Medical Malpractice Trial, It Is Misconduct for a Juror to Inject into Jury Deliberations a Dictionary Definition of "Negligence" that Differs from the Definition Set Forth in the Court's Instructions.</u>

The Cutuks concede that consulting a dictionary by a jury "would be misconduct," *App. Br. at 8, 12 n.3*, and that the jury in this case was instructed not to do it, *App. Br. at 7*. The Cutuks do not dispute that it would be misconduct for jurors in such a case to discuss what they were told was a dictionary definition of a term material to their deliberations and about which some of them were "struggling." *See* CP 109, 114, 170. Instead, the Cutuks argue (1) that the juror declarations do not provide strong enough support for Judge Castleberry's findings that a juror looked up the definition of "negligence" in a dictionary and that jurors at least briefly discussed what that juror told them was a dictionary definition of "negligence," and (2) that, even if the misconduct happened, Judge

Castleberry abused his discretion in ordering a new trial. As discussed more fully below, Judge Castleberry had ample bases to find that juror misconduct in fact occurred and that it warranted a new trial.

C. <u>Judge Castleberry Was Entitled to Find that Jury Misconduct</u>
Occurred Based on the Juror Declarations the Parties Submitted and
Was Not Required to Conduct an Evidentiary Hearing.

The Cutuks complain, *App. Br. at 17-19*, that Judge Castleberry erred by not holding an evidentiary hearing before making his finding of jury misconduct. They cite no decision, however, standing for the proposition that a trial court must refrain from making a finding of juror misconduct until it has summoned discharged jurors back to court, examined them under oath, and assessed their credibility.

1. CR 59(a)(2) authorizes proof of juror misconduct by declaration(s).

CR 59(a)(2) authorizes misconduct of a juror to be "proved by the affidavits of one or more of the jurors." GR 13(a) authorizes the use of declarations whenever a matter is required or permitted to be supported or proved by affidavit. Washington jury misconduct decisions recognize that findings that misconduct occurred may be made post-trial based entirely on juror affidavits or declarations. *E.g.*, *Robinson*, 113 Wn.2d at 156 (court may rely on a juror's affidavit to establish juror misconduct but not to contest the juror's thought processes in reaching a verdict); *Lindsay v. Elkins*, 154 Wash. 588, 614, 283 P. 447 (1929) (under pre-CR 59(a)

statutes providing that jury misconduct "may be proved by affidavits of one or more of the jurors," use of juror affidavits to prove misconduct based on evidence outside the record is mandatory rather than permissive); *Byerly v. Madsen*, 41 Wn. App. 495, 499, 704 P.2d 1236, *rev. denied*, 104 Wn.2d 1021 (1985) ("the trial court, in ruling on a motion for new trial based on jury misconduct, may consider jurors' affidavits insofar as they state 'the facts showing misconduct, but not as showing the *effect* of such misconduct on the verdict'"). Judge Castleberry's reliance on juror declarations was proper.

2. Washington case law does not require an evidentiary hearing before a trial court may find juror misconduct.

The Cutuks' citations to *United States v. Langford*, 802 F.2d 1176 (9th Cir. 1986), and *United States v. Saya*, 247 F.3d 929 (9th Cir. 2001), *App. Br. at 18*, are wholly inapt. Neither decision applied Washington law to a civil tort case, and both cases held that it had *not* been error for federal

⁹ See also Halvorson v. Anderson, 82 Wn.2d 746, 748, 513 P.2d 827 (1973) ("Examining the affidavits of the jurors and recalling the testimony at the trial, the superior court found that one of the jurors had indeed introduced evidence not presented by the parties at the trial"); Gardner v. Malone, 60 Wn.2d 836, 842, 376 P.2d 651 (1962) ("if [a] juror's affidavit establishes misconduct of the jury by facts or circumstances that do not inhere in the verdict, the facts must be considered"); Lyberg v. Holz, 145 Wash. 316, 316-17, 259 P. 1087 (1927) ("The facts thought to establish misconduct are shown by the affidavits of three of the jurors. There are no controverting affidavits, and the facts set out in these affidavits must be accepted as true"); Ryan v. Westgard, 12 Wn. App. 500, 503, 530 P.2d 687 (1975) ("In considering affidavits concerning jury misconduct filed following a verdict, . . . only those facts should be considered which relate to juror misconduct which in all likelihood influenced the verdict").

district judges to decline to hold post-verdict evidentiary hearings to consider claims of juror misconduct.

The Cutuks' reliance on *State v. Rempel*, 53 Wn. App. 799, 770 P.2d 1058 (1989), *rev'd on other grounds*, 114 Wn.2d 77, 785 P.2d 1134 (1990), and *State v. Colbert*, 17 Wn. App. 658, 564 P.2d 1182, *rev. denied*, 89 Wn.2d 1010 (1977), to suggest that a trial judge *should* examine jurors in court before finding juror misconduct, *App. Br. at 10-11*, is likewise misplaced. In those cases, the issue of juror nondisclosure during *voir dire* arose because the jurors spoke up during trial and disclosed their acquaintance with a witness. Thus, the trial judges could assess the impartiality of undischarged jurors firsthand before deciding whether to grant a mistrial. Neither *Rempel* nor *Colbert* suggests that a mistrial was properly denied *only because* the judge spoke with the juror at issue.

D. <u>Judge Castleberry Properly Found, Based Upon the Juror Declarations, that the Alleged Juror Misconduct Occurred.</u>

The Cutuks argue that the juror declarations submitted to Judge Castleberry were hearsay, *App. Br. at 14-15*, and/or should not have served as the basis for jury misconduct findings because they were not sufficiently certain or strong, *App. Br. at 13-17, 21-22*, or were contradicted, *App. Br. at 8, 16, 18, 19*. The Cutuks are wrong.

 The Cutuks did not preserve, and indeed waived, any hearsay objection to Judge Castleberry considering the juror declarations to establish what was said and done during deliberations.

The Cutuks do not assign error to any evidentiary ruling Judge Castleberry made. They do, however, citing *Herndon v. City of Seattle*, 11 Wn.2d 88, 118 P.2d 421 (1941), *App. Br. at 14-15*, make a perfunctory argument that the claims "that a juror consulted a dictionary" were hearsay and "may not be considered to prove the allegation that the other juror in fact looked at a dictionary." What *Herndon* said about hearsay is confined to one sentence that followed a lengthy analysis of jury *instructions*:

The affidavit of one juror that she heard the juror who is charged with misconduct in visiting the scene of the accident, and one other juror, state that they had gone to the scene of the accident is nothing more than hearsay statements, and such an affidavit is insufficient to invoke the discretion of the trial court to grant a new trial. *Lindsay* v. *Elkins*, 154 Wash. 588, 283 P. 447 [(1929)].

Herndon, 11 Wn.2d at 106. To the extent the Cutuks are making a hear-say-based challenge to Judge Castleberry's finding that a juror looked up "negligence" in a dictionary and that jurors discussed what one of them said was a definition of "negligence" that came from a dictionary, the challenge is not one the Cutuks properly preserved for review. In the trial court, the Cutuks cited Herndon as support for an argument that Dr. Bray had not shown misconduct with what they claimed is the requisite degree of "certainty." CP 68. They did not cite it for a hearsay objection to any

juror's assertions of fact. CP 68. The Cutuks never objected to or moved to strike any statements in any juror declaration(s) as hearsay. Moreover, they offered for Judge Castleberry's consideration the declaration of Eric Wiebusch, who declared that another juror ("Jerry") had "stated that he had looked up the definition of negligence in a dictionary the previous evening," and that the definition "was discussed briefly by a couple of jurors." CP 107. The Cutuks do not explain why they are entitled to object on appeal to the court having considered testimony they offered.

RAP 2.5(a) provides that an appellate court "may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." Even if testimony that another juror said he or she had looked up "negligence" in a dictionary is hearsay, the Cutuks did not so argue in the trial court and instead presented such evidence themselves through the Wiebusch declaration. Generally, failure to preserve an argument for review constitutes waiver of the argument. *Erickson v. Robert F. Kerr, M.D., P.S., Inc.*, 125 Wn.2d 183, 194, 883 P.2d 313 (1994); *Karlberg v. Otten*, 167 Wn. App. 522, 531, 280 P.3d 1123 (2012). Failure to raise a hearsay objection in the trial court waives a hearsay challenge to evidence on appeal. *State v. Perez-Cervantes*, 141 Wn.2d 468, 482-83, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000).

 Declaration testimony that jurors discussed a definition of "negligence" that one of their number said came from a dictionary was not hearsay.

Even if the Cutuks had preserved a hearsay argument, their reliance on *Herndon* is misplaced to the extent they raise one with respect to Judge Castleberry's finding that jurors *discussed* a definition of "negligence" that one of their number *said* came from a dictionary. *Byerly* v. *Madsen*, 41 Wn. App. 495, 704 P.2d 1236, *rev. denied*, 104 Wn.2d 1021 (1985), shows why. *Byerly* is similar to this case in that it was a medical malpractice case and one juror testified concerning a statement of fact another juror had made during deliberations that eight other jurors swore they did not recall hearing and that they had not considered:

The jury returned a special verdict finding Drs. Madsen and Allen and the hospital free of any negligence. In the Byerlys' motion for... a new trial, they cited jury misconduct. They attached the affidavit of Douglas E. Helm, the jury foreman, who attested that both before and during deliberations one of the jurors stated in the presence of the other jurors that [a separate] anesthesia group had been a defendant [in the lawsuit] and had settled for \$100,000. In response, the doctors and the hospital submitted the affidavits of eight of the jurors who stated that while they recalled some mention of the anesthesiologists, they did not recall any specifics and it was not considered by them during deliberations.

Byerly, 41 Wn. App. at 498. The trial court granted a new trial because of jury misconduct and the Court of Appeals affirmed. Apropos the Cutuks' hearsay argument, the Court of Appeals in Byerly first noted that juror

affidavits are properly considered to the extent they state facts showing misconduct, but not to the extent they purport to show the effect of the misconduct on the verdict:

[T]he trial court, in ruling on a motion for new trial based on jury misconduct, may consider jurors' affidavits insofar as they state "the facts showing misconduct, but not as showing the effect of such misconduct on the verdict". (Italics ours.) Gardner[v. Malone], [60 Wn.2d 836,] at 842 [(1962)] (quoting Maryland Cas. Co. v. Seattle Elec. Co., 75 Wash. 430, 134 P.1097 (1913)). Under Gardner, "[i]t is for the court to say whether the remarks made by the juror . . . probably had a prejudicial effect upon the minds of the other jurors." Gardner, [60 Wn.2d] at 840 [Other citations omitted.]

Here, the court properly considered Mr. Helm's affidavit as it related to the alleged statement made in the jurors' presence concerning the Byerlys' settlement with the anesthesiologist. [Citation omitted.] The court also properly reserved to itself the question of the effect of this statement; the jurors' affidavits that they did not consider the remarks inhered in the verdict. [Citation omitted.]

Byerly, 41 Wn. App. at 499-500. The Byerly court expressly rejected an argument (based on citation to Herndon) that the juror affidavit was hearsay:

In *Herndon*... the court labeled as hearsay a juror's affidavit that he had heard two other jurors state that they had gone to the scene of the accident... But here, we have [juror] Helm attesting to a fact of his own personal knowledge, *i.e.*, that the settlement was mentioned before the jury. His affidavit is not offered as proof that the [plaintiffs] *entered into* a settlement with the anesthesiologist; only as proof that the jury was advised of such a settlement. Thus, his statements were not hearsay.

Byerly, 41 Wn. App. at 502 (emphases supplied).

Thus, even had the Cutuks argued to Judge Castleberry that he should ignore any juror declaration on grounds of hearsay, the hearsay rule would not have precluded Judge Castleberry from finding, based on the Wiebusch, Satterwhite, Lang, and Jones declarations, CP 107, 141, 168, 171, that some jurors did at least briefly discuss a definition of "negligence" that a juror said had been found in a dictionary.

3. The Satterwhite, Jones, Lang, and Wiebusch declarations were not controverted and were strong enough to establish that the alleged misconduct occurred.

In ruling on a motion for new trial due to alleged jury misconduct, a trial court may credit uncontroverted juror declarations as to what a member of the panel said or did during deliberations. *Lyberg v. Holz*, 145 Wash. 316, 317, 259 P. 1087 (1927). The Cutuks repeatedly characterize the declarations they submitted as conflicting with, rebutting, or contradicting the declarations that Dr. Bray submitted in support of his motion for new trial, *e.g.*, *App. Br. at 8, 16, 18, 19*, or as raising issues of juror/witness credibility, *App. Br. at 9, 12, 17*, and assert that Judge Castleberry "believed one set of jurors over another," *App. Br. at 19*. None of those contentions has merit, and the Wiebusch declaration, which the Cutuks offered, confirmed Dr. Bray's juror declarants' statements as to what had occurred.

Even more to the point for purposes of this appeal, "I do not recall" declarations are not "contradictory" evidence. Again, *Byerly* is on point and defeats the Cutuks' argument.

[T]he doctors and hospital... argue that only Mr. Helm's affidavit reflects knowledge of the settlement and the other affidavits only say the jurors heard some mention of the anesthesiologist, but did not recall any details.

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